IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

W.G. YATES AND SONS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01799

CITY OF WAVELAND, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 09-0355

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUBMITTED BY:

RONALD G. PERESICH (MSB# GINA BARDWELL TOMPKINS (MSB# LAUREN REEDER MCCRORY, MSB# PAGE, MANNINO, PERESICH & MCDERMOTT POST OFFICE DRAWER 289 BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI 39533 PHONE (228) 374-2100 FAX (228) 435-4441

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- W.G. Yates and Sons Construction Company, Inc., (hereinafter "Yates") presents the following issues in this appeal:
 - 1. Whether the trial court erred in finding Reynolds, Inc. (hereinafter "Reynolds") to be a "resident contractor" consistent with Miss Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3).
 - Whether the trial court erred in finding that the City of Waveland (hereinafter "Waveland") was not required to reject Reynolds' bid when Reynolds failed to include revised bid forms as required by Waveland's bidding instructions.
 - 3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Waveland's decision to award the Sewer Reconstruction Project North of Railroad Tracks ("Sewer Project") to Reynolds was not arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or without substantial evidential basis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature and Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Yates is aggrieved by Waveland's June 2, 2009, action in awarding the Sewer Project to Reynolds. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, Yates appealed Waveland's decision to the Hancock County Circuit Court on June 11, 2009. A Bill of Exceptions was filed and, after both parties fully briefed the matter and oral arguments were heard, the Circuit Court entered an Order

dismissing the appeal and affirming the action of Waveland. Yates now appeals the lower court's decision to this Court.

Statement of the Facts

Waveland formally advertised for competitive sealed bids pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13 (Rev. 2008) for the Sewer Project at issue in accordance with published bidding documents and instructions. (R. at 233-646). Waveland's bidding documents for the Sewer Project included Section 00100, INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS which provided, in pertinent part, the following:

- 12 SUBMISSION OF BIDS
- 12.1 (Addendum No. 1) . . . Any bids received after the stated time will not be accepted under any circumstances.
- 12.2 If any Addenda are issued concerning changes in the Bidding Documents, the Bidder must use the latest version of any form so issued for inclusion in his Bidding Documents. Failure to use the correct form shall be deemed as sufficient cause for rejection of any bid so submitted.
- 16.1 ... Bids which are unsigned or are not accompanied by the required Bid Security shall be irrevocably rejected

(R. at 242-51) (emphasis added).

On May 14, 2009, Waveland publicly opened and read aloud sealed bids for the Sewer Project. (R. at 763-65). The lowest two bidders were Reynolds and Yates. (R. at 907-15.) Reynolds' bid states that its state of incorporation is Indiana. (R. at 200.) Reynolds did not, however, attach to its bid a copy of Indiana's current law on that state's treatment of nonresident contractors — as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3) (Rev. 2008). (R. at 677-761.) Reynolds' bid referenced its own Mississippi State Board of Contractors' license number (08534), and the copy of the certificate of responsibility with the bid notes Reynolds' address as Post Office Box 185; Orleans, Indiana 47452. (R. at 700.) Reynolds' bid further establishes that Reynolds did not become

a subsidiary of Layne Christensen, a Mississippi corporation, until September 28, 2005, when Reynolds was acquired by Layne Christensen. (R. at p. 730.)

Reynolds' bid also did not include the revised bid forms issued by Waveland with pre-bid addenda, which is a violation of the mandatory INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS. These instructions required all bidders to "use the latest version of any form so issued for inclusion in his Bidding Documents" and expressly cautioned all bidders, including Reynolds, that noncompliance would cause "rejection of any bid so submitted." (R. at 248, 677-761). Because Reynolds did not utilize the revised pages from the pre-bid addenda, Waveland's Project Engineer used the figures Reynolds had included on the original bid form pages to calculate the total price for Reynolds. These corrections made by the Project Engineer were contained in the certified bid tabulation given to the City. (R. at 907-15.) Reynolds' corrected total bid price was \$9,356,601.65. *Id.* Yates' corrected total bid price was \$9,471,859.12. *Id.*¹

Waveland published the agenda for its May 20, 2009, meeting. Item 21 on the agenda was a "Motion to approve Yates Construction, as the next lowest and best bidder for the Sewer North Reconstruction Project (FEMA funded), issue notice of award, authorize Mayor to sign construction

An asterisk on the certified bid tabulation identified two line items where the Project Engineer made mathematical corrections to both the Reynolds' bid and the Yates' bid. Yates does not contest these simple mathematical calculations because the errors made by both bidders was evident on the face of the bid and resulted from the failure (in both cases) of the bidders to correctly calculate or multiply the amount of the items with the number of linear feet. Such corrections have been found by this Court and the Attorney General to be waivable. See W & W Contractors, Inc. v. Tunica Co. Airport Comm'n, 881 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); MS AG Op. Hembree (June 24, 2002); MS AG Op. Delaney (October 6, 2000); MS AG Op. Meek (February 27, 1980). The Project Engineer's certified bid tabulation did not indicate, however, that the incorrect bid form had been used by Reynolds and that the Engineer (or the City) had decided to use the bid amount included (on the incorrect bid form - on an incorrectly sized pipe) for the pipe size that was actually to be used for the Project. There is no authority that holds that such a change or amendment is, in fact, waivable.

contract and issue notice to Proceed, pending approval by the City Attorney." (R. at 767-69.) The agenda was based on the Project Engineer's recommendation that Waveland reject Reynolds' bid and award the Sewer Project to Yates as the "lowest and best bidder." (R. at 771-815.) Before the May 20, 2009 meeting, representatives of Reynolds were allowed to voice objection to Waveland's proposed award to Yates, and the matter was not ultimately not heard by the Board on May 20, 2009. (R. at 223.)

By letter dated May 26, 2009, Dodds M. Dehmer, Vice-President and General Counsel for Yates, provided information to Zach Butterworth, the attorney for Waveland, regarding Reynolds' bid. (R. at 1007-08.) Among other things, Yates noted that Reynolds was a nonresident contractor based in Indiana. *Id.* Yates objected to the award of the contract to Reynolds on the basis that Reynolds' bid was materially non-responsive because it failed to attach to its bid a copy of Indiana's current law on the treatment of nonresident contractors. As such, Yates advised Waveland that Reynolds' bid could not be considered as the lowest and best bid under the Mississippi Public Bid Laws. *Id.* Dehmer's letter also noted that Yates understood that Reynolds had failed to use the correct Bid Form and, if so, Reynolds' bid should have been rejected as the Bid Form was considered a Bidding Document, and that Section 12.4 of the Instructions to Bidders stated that "Failure to use the correct form shall be deemed as sufficient cause for the rejection of any bid so submitted." *Id.*

By letter dated May 28, 2009, Waveland received certain information from Tom Vaughn, an attorney for Reynolds, regarding Reynolds' bid. Included with the letter is a Certificate of Fact by the Secretary of State of Indiana outlining the merger between Layne Merger Sub 2, Inc (Layne Christensen); the Articles of Merger between Layne and Reynolds, a Form 10K for the fiscal year ending 2006 outlining the acquisition of Reynolds by Layne; and the Affidavit of Steven F. Crooke dated May 29, 2009, indicating that Layne Christensen or its predecessor had conducted business

in Jackson, Mississippi, since 1976. (R. at 817-904.) These documents indicate that Reynolds has a separate legal existence, although it is a wholly owned subsidiary of Layne Christensen. *Id.* They also indicate that Reynolds is an Indiana domestic corporation, and that Reynolds was acquired in a merger transaction effective September 28, 2005. *Id.*

After improperly correcting Reynolds' bid, the Project Engineer then recommended to Waveland, in a letter dated June 1, 2009, that the Sewer Project be awarded to Reynolds. (R. at 727.) This recommendation was contrary to his earlier recommendation, although the revised letter from the Project Engineer contained no facts or other information supportive of his changed recommendation. There is also no finding or determination by the Waveland Board that it actually considered the reasons for this change in the Project Engineer's recommendation. Id. Waveland's published agenda for its June 2, 2009, meeting included a "Motion to approve Reynolds's (sic) Construction as the lowest and best bidder for the Sewer System Reconstruction North of Railroad project, as well as approving the contracts, pending the approval of City Attorney and Notice to Proceed." (R. at 917-19.) Yates' representatives attended the June 2, 2009 meeting of the Mayor and Board of Alderman. (R. at 928.) When the agenda item was called for discussion, and after the motion had been made and seconded, William R. Purdy, one of Yates' attorneys, rose and requested the opportunity to be heard before a vote was taken on the motion. Id. Waveland's Mayor summarily rejected Yates' request to be heard on the matter. Id. Without any discussion, the Mayor and Board of Alderman voted to award the Sewer Project to Reynolds at Reynolds' improperly corrected bid price. Id. Yates' attorney, Purdy, was subsequently permitted to speak to the Mayor and Board of Alderman but only off the record and during the public comments portion at the end of the agenda. Purdy's comments were taken after Waveland had concluded its official public business, including the vote to award the Sewer Project to Reynolds at its corrected bid price, and

were not considered by Waveland. (R. at 226-27.) Purdy made four (4) basic points to the Mayor and Board of Alderman: (1) Reynolds did not attach a copy of Reynolds' resident state's current bid preference law to its bid as required by statute; (2) Reynolds did not use the correct bid forms as revised by Waveland's pre-bid Addendum, in direct violation of Waveland's INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS; (3) Reynolds' bid was corrected by the Project Engineer after the fact to conform to the revised bid sheets, which was a violation of Mississippi law; and (4) Waveland's award to Reynolds exceeded Waveland's powers and was illegal. *Id.* Finally, before filing its notice of appeal to the Hancock County Circuit Court, Yates, through its counsel, filed a formal bid protest with Waveland which outlined the errors Waveland made in its award of the Sewer Project to Reynolds. (R. at 975-90.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Waveland awarded the Sewer Project to Reynolds despite the fact that Reynolds' bid was in direct violation of Mississippi Public Bid Laws and its own bid specifications. There was insufficient evidence in the record before Waveland, and Waveland clearly did not make the requisite factual findings as to Reynolds and/or Layne Christensen under Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3.) There was also insufficient evidence in the record and Waveland clearly did not make the requisite factual findings as to Reynolds' failure to comply with Waveland's own bid specifications. Thus, Waveland improperly awarded the contract to Reynolds when the record shows that Yates was the lowest and most responsive bidder.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"The scope of review is limited when examining the actions of a municipal board."

Nelson v. City of Horn Lake ex. rel. Bd. of Aldermen, 968 So.2d 938, 942 (Miss. 2007).

"For questions of law, a municipal board's decision is reviewed de novo." Id.

Furthermore, we apply a de novo standard of review to issues of statutory interpretation.

Id. Otherwise, we "will not set aside the action of the governing body of a municipality unless such action is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory or is illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis." Id. at (¶11) (quotations omitted). "An act is arbitrary and capricious when it is done at pleasure, without reasoned judgment or with disregard for the surrounding facts and circumstances." Id. "Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion or more than a 'mere scintilla' of evidence." Id.

Precision Communications, Inc., v. Hinds County, Mississippi, 2009-CC-01720-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2011).

B. The trial court erred in finding Reynolds to be a "resident contractor" pursuant to Miss Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3).

The trial court erred in finding Reynolds to be a "resident contractor" pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3). When the bids for the Sewer Project were open and read, it was abundantly clear that Reynolds had failed to attach to its bid a copy of Indiana's current law pertaining to that state's treatment of nonresident contractors as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3) (Rev. 2008). Reynolds is a non-resident contractor as defined in Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3). Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3) provides in pertinent part:

In the letting of public contracts preference shall be given to resident contractors, and a nonresident bidder domiciled in a state having laws granting preference to local contractors shall be awarded Mississippi public contracts only on the same basis as the nonresident bidder's state awards contracts to Mississippi contractors bidding under similar circumstances; and resident contractors actually domiciled in Mississippi, be they corporate, individuals, or partnerships, are to be granted preference over nonresidents in awarding of contracts in the same manner and to the same extent as provided by the laws of the state of domicile of the nonresident. When a nonresident contractor submits a bid for a public project, he shall attach thereto a copy of his resident state's current law pertaining to

such state's treatment of nonresident contractors. As used in this section, the term "resident contractors" includes a nonresident person, firm or corporation that has been qualified to do business in this state and has maintained a permanent full-time office in the State of Mississippi for two (2) years prior to January 1, 1986, and the subsidiaries and affiliates of such a person, firm or corporation

(Rev. 2008) (emphasis added).

Miss. Code. Ann. § 31-3-21(3) requires that a nonresident bidder attach a copy of his resident state's current law pertaining to treatment of nonresident contractors when submitting a bid for a public project. MS AG Op., Adams (November 17, 2003). "The inclusion of the law of a foreign state is a statutory requirement which cannot be waived, and the failure to include that law would prevent the award of that bid to that bidder." *Id.* (emphasis added.) *See also*, MS AG Op., Brown (August 17, 2001). "This statutory requirement is mandatory and a copy of the non-resident bidder's state law must be attached to his bid prior to the award of the contract." MS AG Op., Walls (April 25, 1989) (emphasis added). "If the non-resident bidder fails to provide the attachment prior to the time of the award, then his bid must be rejected." *Id. See also*, MS AG Op., Zebert (April 4, 1989). "[W]e have consistently opined that the failure of a non-resident bidder to submit a copy of his applicable bid preference law prior to the time of the award should result in the rejection of his bid." MS AG Op., Brannon (August 21, 2009) (citing MS AG Op., Dulaney (June 26, 2009); MS AG Op., Jones (September 4, 2007)).

The intent of the Legislature in its adoption of Section 31-3-21(3) is clear. Mississippi contractors are to be given preference over non-resident contractors bidding against them to the same extent that a Mississippi contractor would when bidding against the non-resident contractor in the non-resident's home state. As such, the statutory intent is to level the playing field. As the Supreme Court has noted, it was obvious to the Legislature that the best way to determine whether a preference should be given is for the non-resident to attach to its bid a copy of its home

State's preference law. Refrigeration Sales Co., Inc. v. State of Mississippi ex rel. Oren Segrest, Director of Purchasing, et al, 645 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Miss. 1994).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

Legislative intent is to aid to statutory construction, often elusive to the perception of unaided vision, remains nevertheless the pole star of guidance. Appellee invokes as an elemental formula acceptable to lay and legal usage that what the legislature said is clear and unambiguous and what is meant to be found simply by what is said. This formula should not be discredited. It is only by words that statutory intent is to be disclosed

Id. (citing Anderson v. Lambert, 494 So.2d 370, 373-374 (Miss. 1986) (citing Quitman County v. Turner, 196 Miss. 747, 18 So.2d 122 (1944)). Also, it has been said that the Court's primary objective is to employ the interpretation that best suits the Legislature's true intent or meaning.

Anderson v. Lambert, 494 So.2d 370, 372 (Miss. 1986).

In an appeal from the decision of a municipal authority, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 (1972) states that the person aggrieved may "embody the facts, judgment, and decision in a bill of exceptions." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 (1972). The bill of exceptions serves as the record on appeal, and the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "[t]he circuit court can only consider the case as made by the bill of exceptions. This is the **only record** before the circuit court, as an appellate court." *Van Meter v. Greenwood*, 724 So.2d 925, 928 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Stewart v. City of Pascagoula*, 206 So.2d 325, 328 (Miss. 1968)) (emphasis added). It is uncontradicted that Reynolds failed to attach a copy of its home state's preference law. Therefore, Waveland never had an opportunity to determine whether or not a Mississippi contractor bidding in Indiana would be subject to an adverse preference when bidding against an Indiana contractor. Clearly, it was impossible for Waveland to have made a factual determination on this issue in the absence of the Indiana state statute. Despite the fact that Mississippi's statute provides that a non-resident

contractor" **shall** attach thereto a copy of his state's current law pertaining to such state's treatment of non-resident contractors," Waveland nevertheless awarded the bid to a non-resident. Such an award completely ignored the mandatory language of Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3) and was, therefore, not supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, was beyond Waveland's authority under state law, and violated Yates' right to be awarded this contract.

Waveland's position is that Reynolds should be considered a "resident contractor" because of its relationship to Layne Christensen. This assertion is clearly unsupported by the evidence contained in the appellate record and, therefore, the evidence necessary to support such a finding was not before Waveland when the decision was made to award the Sewer Project to Reynolds. Waveland is required, as suggested by opinions from the Mississippi Attorney General, to find, determine and/or adjudicate that the non-resident contractor meets the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3) and those findings must be consistent with fact. See MS AG Op., Brannon (December 28, 2009) ("If the Gulfport City Council makes the determination, consistent with fact, that the nonresident contractor meets these requirements, then the nonresident contractor must be treated as a resident contractor for purposes of Section 31-3-21") (emphasis added); MS AG Op., Adams (November 17, 2003) ("Whether or not a certain corporate contractor meets this definition is a factual determination for the Tunica County School district to make subject to court review") (citing MS AG Op., Henley (July 31, 1991)).

What the appellate record does show is:

Reynolds' bid lists its Mississippi State Board of Contractors' license number,
 08534, and the copy of the certificate of responsibility included in the bid notes

Reynolds' address as Post Office Box 185; Orleans, Indiana 47452. (R. at 677-761, specifically at 700).²

- Reynolds is an Indiana corporation domiciled in Indiana with a principal office of
 4250 North State Road, Orleans, Indiana. (R. at 700.)
- Reynolds' state of incorporation is Indiana. (R. at 694.)
- Reynolds was not acquired by Layne Christensen until a merger transaction effective on September 28, 2005. (R. at 730.)
- Reynolds' acquisition did not occur until nearly twenty (20) years after January 1,
 1984 the relevant date contained in Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-21(3).
- After the bids were opened by Waveland, but before the contract was awarded, Reynolds submitted certain information to Waveland on May 28, 2009. (R. at 817-904.)

Included in the information received from Reynolds was an affidavit of Steven F. Crooke.

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