### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

W.G. YATES AND SONS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01799

CITY OF WAVELAND, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### ON APPEAL BY APPELLANT W.G. YATES AND SONS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 09-0355

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE THE CITY OF WAVELAND, MISSISSIPPI

### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Gary Yarborough, Jr. (MSB # Yarborough Law Firm, PLLC 845-B Highway 90 Bay St. Louis, MS 39520 Tel. (228) 467-5771 Fax. (228) 467-5774 garyyarborough@bellsouth.net

Attorney for Appellee The City of Waveland, Mississippi

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

Should Yates argue that the preference statute and any requirement of submitting a preference statute with a bid is applicable in instances where there is no finding of bids being "equal or substantially equal," such an interpretation would render the preference statutes violative of the Privileges and Immunities Clause. If that reading was accepted, governing bodies would be required to, for instance, disqualify a nonresident bidders bid if he failed to attached his state's preference law, even, for instance, if his bid was 50% lower than the resident bidders. Such certainly does not comply with the legislative intent as stated in the preference statutes. That reading of the preference statute and any requirement for a nonresident contractor to submit a copy of his state's preference statute cannot be accepted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Article IV, Section 2 of the United States Constitution provides in relevant part that "[t]he Citizens of each State shall be entitled to all Privileges and Immunities of Citizens in the several States." Such clause is meant to put the citizens of different states on the "same footing" as citizens of different states, it inhibits discriminating legislation against them, it "insures to them in other States the same freedom possessed by the citizens of those States in the acquisition and enjoyment of property and in the pursuit of happiness, and it secures to them in other States the equal protection of their laws. *Hicklin v. Orbeck*, 437 U.S. 518, 524 (1978).

Winfield (January 29, 2004; *Billy E. Burnett, Inc.*, 940 So.2d at 245, *citing* MS AG Op., Winfield (January 29, 2004)).

Here, even if Reynolds was a nonresident bidder, its bid was not "equal or substantially equal" with Yates' bid, and Waveland's Board did not find Reynolds' and Yates' bids to be "equal or substantially equal." (R.907-915 and R.921-959). To the contrary, Waveland specifically found Reynolds' bid to be the "lowest and best bid." (R.907-959, particularly R.954). As such, even if Reynolds was a nonresident bidder, the preference statute is inapplicable; likewise inapplicable is any requirement that Reynolds submit a copy of a preference statute with its bid. ((MS AG Op., Winfield (January 29, 2004; *Billy E. Burnett, Inc.*, 940 So.2d at 245, *citing* MS AG Op., Winfield (January 29, 2004).

Yates improperly asks the Court to determine that the bids are "equal or substantially equal" and that it should be given preference; Yates' request improperly attempts to trivialize the City of Waveland's finding that Reynolds' bid was the "lowest and best." Yates' request runs afoul of the discretion given to municipal boards, improperly requesting that the Court act contrary to the separation of powers between courts and governmental entities. That finding of fact is Waveland's to make; Waveland determined that Reynolds' bid was "the lowest," not "substantially equal" to Yates' bid. Yates has not and cannot meet its burden of "clearly showing" Waveland's decision to be "arbitrary and capricious." *Billy E. Burnett, Inc.*, 940 So.2d at 242.

I

1

Waveland's award of the FEMA Sewer North Project to Reynolds, the lowest and best bidder, was proper.

### D. Yates' argument that Waveland should have rejected Reynolds' bid because of the forms upon which it was submitted is unfounded.

Yates suggests that Reynolds bid should be rejected because Reynolds did not use one of the bid addenda, but rather used a prior sheet sent by Waveland's engineers. Yates' argument is unfounded.

Though Reynolds did not use an addendum form in submitting its bid, such

did not affect the price, quantity, quality or competitiveness of its bid.

Accordingly, Waveland was not required to reject Reynolds bid.

In Hill Brothers Construction & Engineering Co. v. Mississippi

Transportation Commission, the Mississippi Supreme Court discussed the reasons

for Mississippi's public bid law. 909 So.2d 58 (Miss. 2005). That Court stated:

[t]he purpose of provisions requiring that contracts with public authorities be let only after competitive bidding [is] to secure economy in the construction of public works and the expenditures of public funds for materials and supplies needed by public bodies; to protect the public from collusive contracts; to prevent favoritism, fraud, extravagance, and improvidence in the procurement of these things for the use of the state and its local selfgoverning subdivisions; and to promote actual, honest, and effective competition to the end that each proposal or bid received and considered for the construction of a public improvement, the supplying of materials for public use, etc., may be in competition with all other bids upon the same basis, so that all such public contracts may be secured at the lowest cost to taxpayers. Id. at 69 (emphasis included), citing Landmark Structures, Inc. v. City Council, 826 So.2d 746, 749 (Miss. 2002) [quoting Hemphill Construction Co. v. City of Laurel, 760 So.2d 720, 724 (Miss. 2000)].

In Hill Brothers, the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the Mississippi Transportation Commission's award of the contract to Iafrate, despite Iafrate failing to sign an addendum. Id. at 70. The Supreme Court rejected Hill Brothers' arguments that Iafrate's failure to sign the addendum was more than a minor irregularity and that the Mississippi Transportation Commission acted beyond its power. Id. at 70-71. The Court noted that the Mississippi Transportation Commission reserved the right to waive bid technicalities. Id. at 70-71. The Hill Brothers Court also relied upon the fact that the Mississippi Transportation Commission did not know, at the time it made its decision, of any bid irregularities. Id. That Court also noted that Iafrate, in its bid, acknowledged receipt of the addendum. The Hill Brothers Court held that acknowledgment of the addendum indicated Iafrate's agreement to be bound by that addendum. Id. at 67-69.

Like Iafrate in the *Hill Brothers* case, Reynolds acknowledged receipt of all addenda and submitted a 5% bid bond with their bid. Thus, they agreed to be bound by those addenda and to the price they submitted. Further, Waveland specifically reserved its rights to reject minor irregularities in the bid. As shown in the instructions to bidders, those instructions merely state that failure to use the bid

form "shall be deemed as sufficient cause" for disqualification of the bid; such does not require disqualification of the bid. Accordingly, as per the teachings of *Hill* Brothers, Reynolds accepted responsibility for and agreed to be bound by the terms of the addendum.

Further, the Supreme Court case of *Landmark Structures v. the City of Meridian and Caldwell Tanks* refutes Yates' argument that Waveland was required to reject Reynolds' bid. Here, the only difference of which Yates complains concerning Reynolds' bid is the addendum's reference to 16 inch, versus 15 inch pipe. (See R.680 [Item No.'s 61-66] versus R.651). That change was simply an immaterial typographical error in the bid, and did not require rejection of Reynolds' bid. The teachings of *Landmark Structures* bear out these points.

In *Landmark Structures*, the bid specifications stated that "concrete and formwork requirements...shall be strictly enforced to ensure concrete of the highest practicable structural and architectural standards." *Landmark Structures*, 826 So.2d 746, 747 (Miss. 2002). Despite the request for bids stating that "concrete pour height shall be a minimum of 6ft. and a maximum of 12 ft.," Caldwell (the lowest bidder)'s bid called for concrete pour heights of four feet. *Id.* at 748-49. Meridian awarded Caldwell the bid despite this nonconformity. *Id.* Landmark Structures, the third lowest bidder, sued. *Id.* 

i

The Landmark Structures Court upheld Meridian's decision, holding that there was "no evidence in the record to support Landmark's contention...that Caldwell was at an unfair economic advantage." *Id.* at 750.

Likewise, Yates has made no showing of an unfair economic advantage here. Yates has that burden. Even if one assumes (*arguendo*) that Yates' bid on the line item it questions (the 16 inch pipe) would have been \$0.00, such only reduces Yates' bid by \$8,925.00 (Line items 61-66 at \$1,487.50 per line). (R.651 and R.911, at Yates' bid tabulation). Reynolds submitted a bid bond agreeing to be bound by their price. Thus, making these assumptions, Reynolds' bid would still have been \$106,332.47 less than Yates' bid. (Yates' bid minus \$8,925.00, minus Reynolds' bid). Yates was not at an economic disadvantage and it has failed to meet its burden of showing such a disadvantage.

### J.H. Parker Construction Co., Inc. v. the City of Natchez further

demonstrates that Waveland acted within its rights by accepting Reynolds as the lowest and best bidder. 721 So.2d 671 (Miss. App. 1998). The call for bids in that case required bidders to submit a "Prequalification of Bidders" statement, and the bid documents stated that "an award would not be made to any bidder submitting a proposal involving omissions or irregularities....." *Id.* at 672-73. The lowest bidder, who was awarded the project, failed to submit the required statement. *Id.* at 672. The fourth lowest bidder sued. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals in *J.H. Parker* held that the lowest bidder (who was awarded the project) did not "alter or destroy the competitive bidding process," or "receive an advantage or benefit over the other bidders" by failing to submit the required statement. *Id.* at 677. The Court stated that the failure did not "affect the price, quality, or quantity of the bid." *Id.* The Court held that the City of Natchez' decision was not outside its discretion and it upheld the city's decision. *Id.* 

Reynolds submitted a sealed bid, thus giving no opportunity for collusion or fraud. Reynolds bid was the lowest bid actually submitted. (R.763-64; R.907-915). Reynolds also, in its bid, acknowledged receipt of the addenda and submitted a 5% bid bond that bound it to the price it submitted. (R.686-90). Those facts make it clear that Reynolds knew what items on which it was bidding, and Reynolds submitted a bid for all the line items. (R.677-686). As is evident from the bid documents, the only difference between the form Reynolds submitted and the addenda (which Reynolds acknowledged) are the line items for 15 inch versus 16 inch gravity sewer lines. (R.680; R.255-56, at line items 61-66). As demonstrated above, Yates would have saved at most \$8,925.00 by that line item difference, which was not sufficient to affect the competiveness of the bids.

Reynolds submitted a sealed bid, which was the lowest and best bid, as evident from its bid and the recommendation from Waveland's engineer and attorney. Reynolds' use of the original bid form did not affect the price, quality or quantity of its bid, and it did not give any opportunity for fraud or collusion; those are the things against which the public bid law is in place to guard. On the other hand, Waveland's award of the FEMA Sewer North Project to Reynolds upholds the reason for that public bid law, giving the project to the lowest bidder, Reynolds, so that the bid process "secured the lowest cost to taxpayers." See Hill Brothers, 909 So.2d 58 (Miss. 2005).

Also, like the Mississippi Transportation Commission in *Hill Brothers*, Waveland's Board had no knowledge that Reynolds did not use the bid addendum at the time Waveland's Board awarded the subject project to Reynolds. To the contrary, the record evidence showed that Reynolds submitted all required bid documents and was the lowest and best bid. (R.907-15; R.763-64). Waveland relied on this, and the recommendations of its engineer and attorney. (R.954). Waveland's Board's decision was not arbitrary or capricious.

Entirely lost in Yates' reasoning and argument is that Mississippi law expressly favors the grant of public contracts to the "lowest actual bidder," which Reynolds is. That public policy is found in decisions such as *Hill Brothers* and in the decision method for determining the "lowest and best bid" outlined in Miss. Code § 31-7-13 (d)(i); *See also Parker Brothers v. Crawford*, 68 So.2d 281, 285 (Miss. 1953). That statute states that, should any governing authority accept a bid other than the "lowest bid actually submitted, [the authority] shall place on its minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid

was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid." Miss. Code § 31-7-13 (d)(i).

The City of Waveland reasonably, honestly, and in good faith awarded the FEMA Sewer North Project to the lowest actual bidder, Reynolds. Waveland's Board made that decision based on the evidence before it and the recommendations of its engineer and attorney. Yates failed to and cannot meet its burden of showing by substantial evidence that Waveland's Board's award of the subject project to Reynolds was arbitrary or capricious, or outside of Waveland's powers. Yates also cannot meet its burden of demonstrating that it was placed at an economic disadvantage. Waveland's Board's decision saved the taxpayers \$115,257.47.

# E. Yates' petition for monetary damages fails as speculative and because there is no record evidence to support it.

Even if Yates could meet its burden of showing by substantial evidence that Waveland acted arbitrary and capriciously, there is no evidence in the record to support Yates' claim for monetary damages, and no evidence to support that any action by Waveland damaged Yates. Accordingly, Yates' claim for damages must be denied.

It is well-settled law in Mississippi that concerning a bill of exceptions, the bill of exceptions constitutes the record for review, and the circuit court, sitting as the appellate court, can only consider the case made by the bill of exceptions. *Stewart v. Pascagoula*, 206 So.2d 325, 328 (Miss. 1968); *See also Cox v. Board of* 

Supervisors of Madison County, 290 So.2d 629, 630 (Miss. 1974) and Pruitt v. the Zoning Board of the City of Laurel, 5 So.3d 464, 469 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008).

Yates requests that it be awarded damages in the form of lost profits. This claim cannot stand because there is no evidence in the record to support those damages, and the record is the only thing on which this appellate court can act. *Stewart*, 206 So.2d at 328. Yates has no contract with Waveland and no contract right to the FEMA Sewer North Project. Accordingly, it has not been deprived of any right or property by Waveland's award of the project to Reynolds and has not been damaged. There is also no proof of lost profits.

Further, it is speculative to assume that Yates would have received the bid had Reynolds' bid been rejected. The teachings of the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. v. the City of Laurel* demonstrate this point. 760 So.2d 720 (Miss. 2000).

Here, had Waveland not awarded the bid to Reynolds, they would not have awarded the bid to Yates. (Yates R.E. 3, at pp. 38-39). Waveland reserved the right to reject all bids. (R.248-49). Accordingly, Yates' assertion that they would have been awarded the project had Reynolds' bid been rejected is speculative and ignores Waveland's right to reject all bids. The teachings of *Hemphill* demonstrate this point of law; that case was decided in 2000, two (2) years after the *Durant* case upon which Yates incorrectly relies for its damage claim. In *Hemphill*, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals' decision and rendered a verdict for the appealing contractor against the City of Laurel. 760 So.2d at 725. Despite finding that Laurel's decision was contrary to law, the Supreme Court did not award Hemphill the damages it sought. Such was because Laurel's bid documents reserved the right to reject all bids, rendering damages speculative. (*Id.* at 724). Specifically, the *Hemphill* Court stated:

[T]he City argues that Hemphill lacks standing to pursue this matter because the decisions of the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals allowed work to continue under the City's decision. The construction has been completed during litigation. Further, any damages sought by Hemphill would be speculative, because the City reserved the right in its bid notice to reject all bids.

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